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ISSUEs Presented

I.
did THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY DENYING THE DEFENSE CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE OF JUROR STOLL WHERE THE JUROR SAID SHE WOULD BE BIASED AGAINST ANIMAL RIGHTS ACTIVISTS AND COULD NOT PUT HER BIAS ASIDE?

II.
did THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY DENYING THE DEFENSE REQUEST TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT BABY GOAT RAIN HAD TO HAVE SOME VALUE FOR THE jury TO FIND MR. HSIUNG GUILTY of the CHANRGED OFFENSES?

Statement of the Case

On August 13, 2018, the Transylvania County Grand Jury indicted Defendant-Appellant for felony larceny and felony breaking or entering.  (Rpp 6-7)  His case was tried at the November 29, 2021 Criminal Session of Transylvania County Superior Court before Judge Peter Knight.  (Rp 1)  Defendant proceeded pro se.  (Rp 20)  On December 6, 2021, the jury found Defendant guilty as charged.  (Rp 111-12)  Judge Knight entered Judgment and Commitment and sentenced Defendant to 6-17 months imprisonment for each charge, suspended the sentences, and placed Defendant on 24 months of supervised probation.  (Rpp 115-18)  Defendant appealed.  (6p 1111; Rpp 121-23) 

Statement of grounds for appellate review

Appeal from final judgment of Transylvania County Superior Court.  N.C.G.S. §7A-27(b) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §7A-27(b)" \s "N.C.G.S. §7A-27(b)" \c 2  TA \l "G.S. §7A-27(b)" \c 2 .
Statement of the Facts

A.
Mr. Hsiung’s Background.

Mr. Hsiung’s parents were from China and came to the United States before Mr. Hsiung was born.  The family lived in “farm country” in Indiana.  Mr. Hsiung was a “fat kid” without a lot of friends.  His dog was his best friend.  (5pp 807-08, 855)  In 1989, as a child, Mr. Hsiung accompanied his parents to China, where he saw dogs that were to be slaughtered.  (5pp 808-09)  What he witnessed had a profound effect on him, and that and other experiences with animals in distress set him on the road to becoming an animal rights activist.  (5pp 808-15)
Mr. Hsiung attended law school and briefly taught at the Northwestern University School of Law.  (5pp 810, 860-61)  Eventually, he became interested in laws affecting animals and animal rights.  He studied these issues extensively and consulted with animal law experts.  (5pp 813-15, 835-38, 851)  

Just being learned in animal rights law was not enough for Mr. Hsiung.  He felt he should use the knowledge he had gained to help animals.  (5pp 816-17, 856)  He focused on the concept of “open rescue,” that there is a common law right in every state—derived from English common law—to aid an animal that is suffering, even if it means entering or interfering with another person’s property.  He held this belief to his “deepest core.”  (5pp 867-68, 847, 852, 862, 878)  For example, a person should have a right to break a car window if a dog is trapped inside the car on a hot day.  (5pp 814-15)  

With respect to animals on farms, Mr. Hsiung never blamed the owner of an animal if the animal was in distress and not being treated—even on a factory farm—because what the owner does or neglects to do is driven by the economics of the industry: “[Y]ou really can’t treat the animal and have your business remain viable.”  (5pp 843-45, 869)  Mr. Hsiung believed open rescue was necessary because in his experience, the authorities were not interested in helping.  And if you contact a farm before you accumulate evidence, there will generally be no response or the evidence may be covered up, creating an adversarial situation.  (5pp 846, 870, 881-82)  Usually after completing a rescue, Mr. Hsiung would contact the farm “just to talk to them about what we found and see if what we can do is better.”  (5p 845)  
Mr. Hsiung gave an example of how open rescue can effect change in the way animals are treated.  In 2017, Mr. Hsiung returned to China.  (5p 815)  He went to Yulin, where thousands of dogs were being killed for food, often in violation of Chinese law.  (5p 817)  Mr. Hsiung found three dogs in extreme distress in a pen at a dog meat farm.  One had a belly distended from parasites.  (5pp 817, 832)  Mr. Hsiung and other activists removed the three dogs and were arrested by the Chinese government because the government was concerned they were spies.  (5p 833)  Mr. Hsiung and the others were eventually released.  (5p 833)  The dog rescue and the large amount of publicity surrounding it was one reason the Chinese government later acknowledged that dogs are not livestock, and the dog trade decreased dramatically.  (5pp 833-34)
B.
The Open Rescue of Baby Goat Rain.
Sospiro Ranch is a small commercial goat farm owned by Curtis Burnside at 136 Limousine Lane in Transylvania County.  (4pp 732-35, 788-89, 795-96)  To access the ranch, one goes up a long gravel driveway and through a gate.  The gate had an electronic arm that is opened by pressing a button.  (4pp 678, 715-16, 758-59)  On the property, there was a small barn enclosed by a fence with a gate.  The barn had one wall, was open air, and had five stalls.  (Rp 85; 4pp 716, 722, 759-60)  

Burnside raised the goats and would sell most of them when they were about three months old.  (4pp 734-35, 760)  A three-month-old goat would sell for $250 to $300.  (4pp 760, 794)  The goats were sold as pets, for land management or breeding, or for their meat.  (7p 788)  Although no goats were slaughtered at Sospiro Ranch because it was prohibited by law, Burnside sent some of the goats to another facility to be slaughtered.  He had some slaughtered for his own personal meat.  (4pp 788-89)
Burnside testified the goats were in good health and that he had “an obvious financial incentive to keep [the] goats healthy” because unhealthy or sick goats don’t have commercial value and are expensive to take care of because of veterinary bills.  Burnside would not sell sick or unhealthy goats.  Further, if the disease is infectious, it could spread to the other goats.  Therefore, a sick goat must be cared for properly and be made well.  (4pp 785-87, 790)  

Mr. Hsiung testified he had information that goats were being neglected or treated cruelly at Sospiro Ranch.  He did not know about any specific animal, just the general problem.  (5pp 853, 858-59, 865, 875, 879)  He had been to the ranch before and “was very familiar with the care [he] had seen on prior occasions on the farm.”  (5p 877)  He testified he had “very specific knowledge” that Sospiro Ranch “left animals in a state where they had no value.”  (5p 879)  He anticipated he would find animals “in danger” and that he would remove one animal to document the conditions at the ranch.  (5pp 875-76)  
Mr. Hsiung was part of an animal rights organization.  On the evening of February 10, 2018, it was raining heavily in the area of Sospiro Ranch.  In the middle of the night, Mr. Hsiung and three other members of the organization entered Sospiro Ranch and took a baby goat.  (5pp 840-42, 852, 866-67; St. ex. 7)  The entire operation was livestreamed on Facebook.  (St. ex. 7)  Mr. Hsiung explained, “[W]e do these things openly, because we beli[e]ve that we have a legal right to do them,” and “[W]hen we engage in various types of nonviolent action, you should be open about what you’re doing, because . . . this is part of democracy.”  (5pp 857, 868)  Mr. Hsiung wanted to document the conditions at the ranch to “make sure the public can be educated about what’s unfolding in their community.”  (5pp 875-76)
To accomplish the rescue, Mr. Hsiung and the others parked their vehicle on a road near the ranch, walked to the gate around the property, went “around the gate,” “climbed through” a fence, and entered the barn.  (St. ex. 7)
During the rescue, Mr. Hsiung accidentally dropped his California driver’s license.  (Rp 76; 5p 857)  The activists encountered two baby goats, one of which—later named Rain—had whitish-green discharge coming from its eye.  The goat was also lethargic, in contrast to healthy baby goats that are generally rambunctious and friendly.  Based on his 20 years of rescue experience, Mr. Hsiung believed that the goat was in distress and was diseased.  (Rp 87; 5pp 840-42)  He believed that he had a moral duty to rescue Rain.  (4p 807)  Mr. Hsiung and the others took Rain back to their vehicle and drove away.  (St. ex. 7)  Burnside testified that Rain was healthy when he was taken.  (4p 787)
Soon after the rescue, Mr. Hsiung brought Rain to Sue Francisco, an animal foster parent for Brother Wolf Animal Rescue in Asheville.  (5pp 871, 884, 888, 903)  Francisco was one of Brother Wolf’s foster volunteers who handled “tough cases,” including farm animals such as goats.  (5p 909)  Rain was taken to Francisco because of her experience with emergency animal care.  (5p 884)    Francisco brought Rain to a veterinarian that day where he was treated with an antibiotic called Draxxin, “a second-line antibiotic” that is used “for a more severe disease.”  Rain’s energy “perked up” after being given milk and Draxxin.  (5pp 888, 933)     
Mr. Hsiung testified that once the goat left his hands, he had no control over it.  (5p 871)  However, if Mr. Hsiung had been able to speak to Burnside and say “this is what was found and this is what our concern was, do you think you could not hurt the goat?  And . . . if he answered positively, and we thought that was the case, then absolutely we would return the goat.”  (5p 873)  Mr. Hsiung had planned on contacting Burnside, but he was arrested before he could do so.  (5p 870)
Denise Bitz is a registered nurse and the founder of Brother Wolf Animal Rescue.  Brother Wolf takes on the most at-risk animals at the Asheville animal shelter and places them in foster homes and also maintains an animal sanctuary and an adoption center.  Prior to the founding of Brother Wolf, 80% of the animals at the Asheville shelter were euthanized.  (5pp 892-902)

Bitz had concerns about cruelty to farm animals in the area.  For example, there was an instance where one of Brother Wolf staff members investigated an emaciated cow who had been left tied to a fence.  (5p 901)  Bitz reached out to Mr. Hsiung based on his knowledge of animal rescue law because “Brother Wolf was getting lots of phone calls about animal cruelty cases” that it was unable to handle.  (5pp 835-36)  
After Mr. Hsiung’s arrest, it became public knowledge that Rain was taken from Sospiro Ranch, and Francisco was visited by law enforcement.  Bitz tried to reach out to Curtis Burnside to see if she could talk to him and come to a resolution between Brother Wolf and the ranch without going to court.  Bitz called Burnside and got no response, so she sent an email and letter.  Getting no response to either, Bitz went to Burnside’s house in an effort to speak to him.  She could not reach him and left.  (5pp 910-13)

When Bitz tried to reach out to Burnside, that was consistent with the practice of Brother Wolf—to try in good faith to resolve the matter without going to court.  Bitz always tried to reach out to the owner and always assumed the owner was a good person unless proven otherwise.  If there was no response, Bitz assumed the owner wasn’t interested in the animal.  (5pp 913-14)

C.
The Investigation.

On the morning of February 11, 2018, Burnside discovered that Rain was gone and that the gate to the property was not properly fastened.  (4pp 754)  He found Mr. Hsiung’s driver’s license on the ground outside the barn.  (Rp 76; 4p 755-56)  He called law enforcement.  (4pp 756-57)  Burnside did not know Mr. Hsiung and didn’t consent to him coming onto his property or taking a goat.  (4p 757)  
That morning, Transylvania County Sheriff’s Office Lieutenant Chase Owen and Deputy Tyler Snipes responded to the call about an alleged larceny of a goat at Sospiro Ranch.  (4pp 635-39, 713-15)  Burnside led them to the goat enclosure and gave Snipes the driver’s license.  (4pp 639-46, 717-19, 756)  
Snipes said the barn was extremely muddy and wet from the massive downpour the day before.  (4p 719)  Snipes only saw one goat at the ranch, and didn’t see anything that was a problem.  (4pp 725-26)  Owen testified that the barn was clean and the goats he saw did not appear to be in distress, but he could not recall if he saw any baby animals.  He didn’t see any mud and testified the pens were neat and kept up.  However, he did not see the condition of the goats on February 10, 2018 and things could have changed in 24 to 48 hours.  (4pp 678-79, 691, 703-06, 709-10)
Mr. Hsiung’s name was on the driver’s license.  Owen verified through the California Division of Motor Vehicles that the license was not fictious and that it was Mr. Hsiung’s license.  (4pp 645-46)

Burnside looked online and found Mr. Hsiung’s Facebook page and the video of the livestream rescue.  He contacted law enforcement about the video.  (4pp 458-60)

Owens looked at Mr. Hsiung’s Facebook page and testified the picture on the license matched the picture on the page.  Mr. Hsiung appeared in multiple videos posted on the page.  (4pp 647-49, 679-80)  Snipes looked on social media sites for the name on the license and found Mr. Hsiung’s Facebook page with his picture.  (4pp 720-21)  Snipes did not know who managed the page or posted on it.  (4p 728)  
Owen testified that State’s Exhibit 3 was a “screen grab” from Mr. Hsiung’s page posted on February 10, 2018.  (Rp 79; 4p 667)  The screen grab, which was published to the jury, read, “Taking a big risk tonight.  If we succeed, a life could be saved.  If I fail, I could get shot.  It’ll be on Facebook Live: 11 pm PT.”  (Rp 79; 668-69)

State’s Exhibits 4 and 6 were two more screen gabs from the Facebook page.  State’s Exhibit 5 was a blown-up image of one of the photos on State’s Exhibit 4.  (Rpp 80-84; 4pp 669-73)  State’s Exhibit 4 also stated in pertinent part, 

The incredible team who saved Rain last night. . . . Thanks to all of you for risking your lives to save Rain’s.  And thanks to every one of you for joining us online.  You gave us the strength to continue on in the face of exceptionally difficult circumstances.  Facebook can erase our videos, but they can’t erase the life we saved.

(Rp 80)  The name on the page of the person who posted was Mr. Hsiung.  (Rp 80)  State’s Exhibits 4 and 5 were published.  (4p 673)
State’s Exhibit 6 was a still shot from a video of Mr. Hsiung driving a vehicle.  The post was dated February 11, 2018 and the name of the poster was Mr. Hsiung.  The post read in pertinent part, “Electric fence, barking dogs, and armed animal abusers await us in the attempt to save a baby animal from criminal animal cruelty[.]  OpenRescue[.]”  (Rpp 83-84; 4pp 674-75)  
State’s Exhibit 7 is a video from which the State’s Exhibit 6 screen grab was taken, posted on February 11, 2018.  The video, which was published to the jury, depicts a livestream of the open rescue of Rain, starting with the rescuers driving to the ranch until they drove away from the ranch with Rain.  (4pp 675-77)
In July 2018, Owen visited Sue Francisco, looking for a baby goat.  (4pp 698-99)  Owen testified he had been told Francisco knew that the goat was from the ranch.  Francisco told Owen she did not know where the goat came from and also that Mr. Hsiung told her to contact him when police came looking for the goat.  (4p 699)  Burnside testified he had not seen Rain since he was taken.  (4p 761)
D.
Evidence of the Value of a Baby Goat with Pneumonia.

Dr. Sherstin Rosenberg is the chief veterinarian at Happy Hen Sanctuary in California.  She assesses animals, including goats, that may be suffering from neglect, and rescues animals from “horrible situations of cruelty and neglect and not receiving veterinary care that they need.”   (5pp 922-27, 950)  In preparation for her testimony, Rosenberg reviewed Rain’s veterinary records from Animals R Us, received from Sue Francisco.  The records were from the morning of February 12, 2018.  Rosenburg also spoke to Francisco and was familiar with the image in Defense Exhibit 1, that Mr. Hsiung testified is a photo of Rain with eye discharge that was taken 45 minutes and either 51 or 55 seconds into the livestream and that illustrated how Rain looked “the moment [Mr. Hsiung] saw it.”  (Rp 87; 5pp 840-42, 931-32, 935-37)
Dr. Rosenberg testified that white discharge from the eye of a baby goat can be the sign of a severe respiratory infection, including pneumonia, especially if the discharge is turning green or caked around the eye and the goat is lethargic and has discharge from the nose as well.  (5p 938)  Pneumonia causes fluid build-up in the lungs and is “extremely life threatening” for a baby ruminant like a goat.  Draxxin is a second-line antibiotic, used to treat pneumonia, as opposed to a less severe disease than just a simple upper respiratory infection.  (5pp 933-35)

The cost of treating a baby goat with pneumonia is $700 to $1000, or possibly a lot more if there are complications, such as sepsis, septic arthritis, or a heart infection.  Because pneumonia is a highly infectious disease, the consequences of having a goat with pneumonia at a goat farm is to put other animals at risk of becoming ill, with increased “morbidity and mortality” at the farm.  (5pp 949-50)
The jury found Mr. Hsiung guilty of felony breaking or entering based on intent to commit felony larceny and guilty of felony larceny pursuant to a breaking or entering.  (Rpp 104, 111-12) 
STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Issue I: A trial court’s ruling on a challenge for cause is reviewed for abuse of discretion, State v. Lasiter, 361 N.C. 299, 301 (2007) TA \l "State v. Lasiter, 361 N.C. 299, 301 (2007)" \s "State v. Lasiter, 361 N.C. 299, 301 (2007)" \c 1 , or if the ruling is “manifestly unsupported by reason or is so arbitrary that it could not have been the result of a reasoned decision.”  State v. Hennis, 323 N.C. 279, 285 (1998) TA \l "State v. Hennis, 323 N.C. 279, 285 (1998)" \s "State v. Hennis, 323 N.C. 279, 285 (1998)" \c 1 .

Issue II: Where a request for a special jury instruction is not in writing, this Court reviews for plain error, State v. Brown, No. COA20-737, 2022 N.C. App. LEXIS 198, at *21 (Mar. 15, 2022) (unpub.) TA \l "State v. Brown, No. COA20-737, 2022 N.C. App. LEXIS 198, at *21 (Mar. 15, 2022) (unpub.)" \s "State v. Brown, No. COA20-737, 2022 N.C. App. LEXIS 198, at *21 (Mar. 15, 2022) (unpub.)" \c 1 , or whether “the error had a probable impact on the jury’s finding that the defendant was guilty.”  State v. Lane, 271 N.C. App. 307, 312 (2020) TA \l "State v. Lane, 271 N.C. App. 307, 312 (2020)" \s "State v. Lane, 271 N.C. App. 307, 312 (2020)" \c 1  (citation omitted).
Argument

   I.
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENSE CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE OF JUROR STOLL WHERE THE JUROR SAID SHE WOULD BE BIASED AGAINST ANIMAL RIGHTS ACTIVISTS AND COULD NOT PUT HER BIAS ASIDE.

A.
Introduction.

During jury selection, the trial court denied Mr. Hsiung’s challenge for cause and renewed challenge for cause of a potential juror who could not be impartial because she was biased against animal rights activists.  To remove the juror, Mr. Hsiung had to use his last peremptory challenge, which he would have used to remove another juror with whom he was dissatisfied.  Mr. Hsiung requests a new trial.

B.
Pertinent Facts.

During jury selection, when there were three seats left to fill for the jury of 12, prospective juror Robin Stoll was called to the jury box as one of three jurors.
  (3p 456)  Mr. Hsiung had exercised five of his six peremptory challenges at that point.  (2p 340; 3p 454; Rp 73 (jury chart)
)

Upon questioning by the State, Stoll said she worked as a cook in a restaurant.  Stoll knew Chase Owen, the lead investigator for the case, and his parents.  Stoll’s children went to school with Owen.  Stoll said, “And they come in our restaurant.  They come every morning.  Chase comes two or three times a week.”  (3pp 457-58; 4pp 729-31)  The State was satisfied with Stoll, as well as with the two other jurors.  (3pp 456-67)  
Mr. Hsiung questioned Stoll about her relationship with Chase Owen and his family.  (3pp 467-69)  Stoll stated that she was “friends” with Owen and that her “kids went to school with Chase” and her youngest daughter was friends with him.  (3pp 468-69)  

Mr. Hsiung then asked Stoll about her views of animal rights activists.  When asked whether she had “preexisting views about animal advocates or animal farmers strongly, one way or the other,” Stoll said, “Well, I don’t understand a lot of it, you know, what—they’re for, what they’re against.  You know, we take care of animals.  And, you know, I have been in—my family has killed pigs for years.  My brother still does for the hams for Christmas[.]”  (3pp 471-72)  
When asked about her involvement with her brother’s pigs, Stoll said, “My husband goes and helps me sometimes.  And my grandson does.  You know, he brings all of the boys out and they do it. . . . I’ve helped my daddy over the years, feed the pigs, . . . whatever we have to do.  We had a couple of cows a couple of times I remember . . . and we had goats[.]”  She further explained that her father had “always” been involved in animal production, and that her coworker raised pigs to sell and had goats.  Stoll had had goats over the years as well.  (3pp 472-73)
Stoll had no “opinion one way or the other” about raising animals and animal production, as long as one “take[s] care of them in the proper way,” and said that animal production was “a way of life.”  Stoll and her family had been criticized by people for animal production.  (3p 473)  Stoll thought critics of animal production were “a little foolish maybe” and that people should “mind their business[.]”  (3p 474)  
When asked if she had preexisting views of animal rights activists or critics of the industry, Stoll responded, “A little bit, yes, I guess I do. . . . Them not minding their business[.]”  (3p 476)  Stoll said she didn’t think she would be biased, but “it’s always that chance.”  (3p 478)  
Then, when she was asked if she would “have a bias in the case involving the removal of a goat by an animal rights activist from a farm,” Stoll responded, “I may have a little bit just because of the way I was raised[.]”  Stoll confirmed that “people should just kind of leave each other alone” and that “[p]articularly given that [he]r family is involved in an animal farm, [she] want[ed] people to leave animal farmers alone[.]”  (3pp 479-80)  

Stoll responded “Yes” when asked, “Do you think you’d have a bias in a case like this involving an animal advocate who . . . allegedly removed a goat from a farm?”  (3p 480)  Stoll then responded “No” when asked, “And if the Judge instructed you that you should try to set your opinion aside, would you have a difficult time doing that given your prior experiences in animal farming?” and answered “Yeah” when asked if she could set aside her opinion if the judge instructed her to.  (3p 480)  But immediately thereafter she said, “[I]f the Judge ask me to do my best, I got to do my best” to set aside her bias.  (3pp 480-81)  She further stated that she “would do it” but then said that she “really c[ould]’t say because [she] didn’t understand what the case was about.”  (3p 481)  
Then the following occurred:
THE DEFENDANT: . . . [B]efore you know anything about it, do you think you would have a bias, even if a Judge instructed you, that would prevent you from rendering a fair and impartial verdict?

MS. STOLL:  I guess I would.

THE DEFENDANT:  Yeah?  So the answer is yes, then?

MS. STOLL:  Uh-huh.  Yes, sir.

(4p 482)
Mr. Hsiung challenged Stoll for cause, stating, “[W]e move to excuse Ms. Stoll based on her relationship with Mr. Owen and the bias she acknowledged she might feel . . . with her family’s involvement[.]”  (3p 493)

When asked if he was satisfied with the two other jurors, Mr. Hsiung said, “[W]e’ll continue depending on . . . what happens” and “Depending on . . . whether the strike for cause is granted.  We have one peremptory challenge left, it may or may not—.”  The court said, “No is okay,” and Mr. Hsiung said, “So it’s no.”  (3p 493)  
The trial court then questioned Stoll, and she said her relationship with Owen and his family would not interfere with her ability to be fair and impartial.  (3p 494)  
The trial court further questioned her with respect to her family’s involvement in animal production:
THE COURT: Does the fact that your brother’s involvement in raising of pigs—that’s what he has done, right, it’s not what he does for a job, but—
MS. STOLL:  No, just to have—just to put meat on the table during the winter, you know.

THE COURT:  And the fact that your husband may go and help, your grandchild may go over and help to feed the pigs or otherwise . . . will that have any affect [sic] on your ability to listen to the evidence in this case?

MS. STOLL:  Yeah, I could listen to the evidence, yes, sir.

THE COURT:  Will it have any affect [sic] on your ability to listen to the law as I give you the law?

MS. STOLL:  No, I could listen to the law.

THE COURT:  And do you believe that you could consider the facts as you find those facts to be and apply the law that I will give you to those facts as you find those facts to be in arriving—
MS. STOLL:  I’d do my best.

THE COURT:  I’m sorry—in arriving at what you say the verdict in this case should be?
MS. STOLL:  I would do my best, yes, sir.

THE COURT:  Do you believe that you could set aside anything you know about or any feelings you have about the raising of pigs and consuming those pigs raised by your brother, I’m not saying you have consumed them, I’m just saying any feelings you have about the fact that he raised them for consumption, could you set aside those feelings during the course of this trial and . . . listen to the evidence?

MS. STOLL:  I would listen to the evidence, yes, sir.

THE COURT:  And can you set aside those—any feelings you have about it, either—whatever feelings they are and just listen to the evidence without considering any feelings about your—about the fact that your brother has raised pigs?

MS. STOLL:  Yeah.  I mean, I would do my best, you know.  Yes, sir.

(3pp 495-96) (emphasis added).  The trial court denied the challenge for cause.   (3p 496)  

Mr. Hsuing again questioned Stoll.  Stoll reiterated that she would “do [her] best” and “do the best [she] could” to set aside her feelings about animal farming.  (3pp 498-99)  

Then the following occurred:

THE DEFENDANT: . . . And with respect to animal farming, I think your answer to the Judge’s question about could you set aside your feelings, it was something along the lines of “I would try.”
MS. STOLL:  I would do my best, yeah.

THE DEFENDANT:  Can you tell me a little bit more about that?  What do you mean—
MS. STOLL:  Well, I don’t know about that group you all—that are sitting out there.
  I mean, you told us not to look nothing up about them, so I don’t know a whole lot about them, other than they got their opinion, I got mine, you know.
. . .

THE DEFENDANT: . . . So I’m just trying to understand a little bit better your answer “I would try” or—
MS. STOLL:  Uh-huh.

THE DEFENDANT:  Again, I’m not trying to pry—
MS. STOLL:  Because if I couldn’t answer or—I just wouldn’t put an opinion in on it, you know, I would just sit there.  I ain’t the smartest person in the world, but I’d do the best I could.
. . .

THE DEFENDANT: . . . [I]s the feeling a strong one given your personal experiences such that regardless of what the Judge instructs you, it will be difficult for that feeling not to influence your perception of the facts in the case and your weighing of the evidence?

MS. STOLL:  Well, I don’t know how much they are going to have to do with the case, you know, the people out there, so—
. . .
MS. STOLL:  The PETA, whatever you call them, I said I don’t know, you know, what—how much they’re going to have to do to put their opinion in on it, so I don’t know.

. . .
THE DEFENDANT: . . . So I will say more general, then, in a case involving animal rights activists, it sounds like even if the Judge instructed you, you feel you would have a bias, is that correct, based on these prior experiences?
MS. STOLL:  Well, I don’t know what the person—it’s criminal, I thought, if they took something, if it’s about animal cruelty or if it’s about stealing something, you know.

THE DEFENDANT:  For sure.  Yeah.  So obviously the Judge instructed us we can’t talk about the facts of the case.

MS. STOLL:  Right.

THE DEFENDANT:  And that’s called a stakeout question.

[PROSECUTOR]:  Objection.

THE COURT:  Sustained.  You just ask what you’re doing to ask.  And we probably need to move along from the issue of—
MS. STOLL:  I probably—I might be—
THE COURT:  I’m sorry.  Excuse me just a minute.  Thank you.  We probably have to move along from the issue of whether somebody would try to do something.  I’m not asking counsel or parties to do anything more than try.

THE DEFENDANT:  Okay.

THE COURT:  All right?  But if you feel like there’s a different reason to explore it, then I would want you to do that.  Thank you.

THE DEFENDANT: Okay.  I think the answer to the last question was yes, though; correct?
MS. STOLL:  Yes.
THE DEFENDANT:  Yes.  Sorry, let me just repeat it.

MS. STOLL:  Yes.  Yes, I guess I would be biased against it.
THE DEFENDANT:  Even if a judge instructed you, you have to try to get that bias out?
MS. STOLL:  Yes.
(3pp 500-02) (emphasis added).
Mr. Hsiung’s renewed challenge for cause was denied.  Mr. Hsiung used his last peremptory challenge to excuse Stoll.  (3pp 502-03)  

After the lunch recess, outside of the presence of the jury, Mr. Hsiung renewed his cause challenge for Juror Stoll.  (4p 507)  Mr. Hsiung also stated:

I just want to say for the record the basis for the challenge for cause was the relationship with Chase Owen and his family, the statement that even with your instruction, she felt that she would be able to render a fair and impartial verdict and would have bias.

And I take your point about cross-examination.  The reason that I kept asking the question is because she wasn’t giving me a clear answer.  And I was trying to be as friendly as possible.  Certainly hope with this the juror did not feel any pressure.  But she did state that she went to school with Chase’s mom, that she sees Chase regularly three or four times a week.  When asked is your relationship acquaintances or friends, she said we are friends.  And then separately, you know, when I asked her on a couple of occasions in a case involving animal rights activists, it sounds—even if the judge instructs you, you feel like you would have a bias?  She said, yes, I guess I would be biased.  And I said again, even if the Judge instructed you?  Yes, I would be biased.

So my concern is just that I exhausted my last peremptory challenge on a juror who had a family relationship in the industry, a family relationship with one of the key witnesses in the State’s case.  And if possible, I’d love for . . . another peremptory challenge to be granted to us so we could use it on another juror, because there probably was another juror we would have used a peremptory challenge on if not for the one that we were not able to exercise on because we had none left.

(3pp 508-10)

The trial court stated, “[I]n my discretion, I determined that I was satisfied with the juror's answers and so denied that motion.  If there was concern, then I think you probably would have used your peremptory[.]”  (3p 510)  
Two more jurors were called to fill the last seat and were excused for cause.  (3pp 510-50)  Another juror was called and seated.  (3pp 553-67)
C.
The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion by Denying the Challenge for Cause of Juror Stoll.

Under the Sixth Amendment and the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution and Article I, section 24 of the North Carolina Constitution, every criminal defendant has a right to be tried by a fair and impartial jury.  Turner v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 466, 471-72 (1965) TA \l "Turner v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 466, 471-72 (1965)" \s "Turner v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 466, 471-72 (1965)" \c 1 ; Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 722 (1961) TA \l "Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 722 (1961)" \s "Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 722 (1961)" \c 1 ; State v. Crump, 376 N.C. 375, 381 (2020) TA \l "State v. Crump, 376 N.C. 375, 381 (2020)" \s "State v. Crump, 376 N.C. 375, 381 (2020)" \c 1 .  In this regard, N.C.G.S. §15A-1212 provides in pertinent part: “A challenge for cause to an individual juror may be made by any party on the ground that the juror . . . is unable to render a fair and impartial verdict.”  N.C.G.S. §15A-1212(9) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §15A-1212(9)" \s "N.C.G.S. §15A-1212(9)" \c 2 .  
Further, “[t]he right to challenge a given number of jurors without showing cause is one of the most important of the rights secured to the accused[.]”  State v. Freeman, 314 N.C. 432, 438 (1985) TA \l "State v. Freeman, 314 N.C. 432, 438 (1985)" \s "State v. Freeman, 314 N.C. 432, 438 (1985)" \c 1 .  This right is denied where a defendant must accept a juror he does not want because his challenge for cause for that or another juror is wrongly denied.  State v. Hightower, 331 N.C. 636, 641 (1992) TA \l "State v. Hightower, 331 N.C. 636, 641 (1992)" \s "State v. Hightower, 331 N.C. 636, 641 (1992)" \c 1 .  A defendant who is denied his fundamental right to exercise all his peremptory challenges must be granted a new trial.  See id. (defendant was deprived of right to peremptory challenge and was awarded new trial).  
Here, Juror Stoll could not render a fair and impartial verdict.  She should have been excused for cause because she was biased against Mr. Hsiung as an animal rights activist.  Mr. Hsiung was dissatisfied with the jury because he had to use his last peremptory challenge to excuse Stoll rather than to excuse another juror he did not want.
Upon initial questioning by Mr. Hsiung, Juror Stoll stated she “may have a little bit of bias” against animal rights activists because of the way she was raised and that she would have bias in a case where an animal advocate was alleged to have taken a goat from a farm.  (3pp 479-80)  She then said she would not have a difficult time setting her opinion aside, but immediately thereafter said she would only “do [her] best” to set aside her bias.  (3pp 480-81)  She then again vacillated, stating that she “would do it” but then stating that she “c[ould]n’t really say” because she didn’t understand what the case was about.  (3p 481)  
At the end of the initial questioning by Mr. Hsiung she unequivocally said she could not be fair and impartial:
THE DEFENDANT: . . . And so the question is before you know anything about it, do you think you would have a bias, even if a Judge instructed you, that would prevent you from rendering a fair and impartial verdict?

MS. STOLL:  I guess I would.

THE DEFENDANT:  Yeah?  So the answer is yes, then?

MS. STOLL:  Uh-huh.  Yes, sir.
(4p 483) (emphasis added).

The trial court then attempted to rehabilitate Stoll.  Stoll said she could listen to the law and the evidence.  She said she would do her best to apply the law to the facts in arriving at a verdict and to listen to the evidence “without considering any feelings about . . . the fact that [her] brother has raised pigs.”  (3pp 495-96)  Stoll never unequivocally told the trial court she could put aside her bias.

In contrast, upon further questioning by Mr. Hsiung, Stoll again unequivocally said she would be biased in a case involving an animal rights activist:
THE DEFENDANT: . . . So I will say more general, then, in a case involving animal rights activists, it sounds like even if the Judge instructed you, you feel you would have a bias, is that correct, based on these prior experiences?
. . .

MS. STOLL:  I probably—I might be—
. . .

THE DEFENDANT: . . . I think the answer to the last question was yes, though; correct?
MS. STOLL:  Yes.
. . .

MS. STOLL:  Yes.  Yes, I guess I would be biased against it.

THE DEFENDANT:  Even if a judge instructed you, you have to try to get that bias out?
MS. STOLL:  Yes.
(3pp 501-02)  (emphasis added).


In sum, at best Juror Stoll said she would do her best to set aside her bias.  But after further questioning by Mr. Hsiung, she said she would in fact be biased.  


State v. Hightower, 331 N.C. 636 (1992) TA \l "State v. Hightower, 331 N.C. 636 (1992)" \s "State v. Hightower, 331 N.C. 636 (1992)" \c 1  shows that Stoll should have been dismissed based on her inability to be fair and impartial because of her bias against Mr. Hsiung as an animal rights activist.  In Hightower, Juror Browning at first said he wanted to hear the defendant testify and that if the defendant did not testify it would affect his ability to be fair and impartial.  Id. at 637.  He then vacillated between saying he could follow the law and saying it could stick in the back of his mind if the defendant did not testify.  Id. at 638-39.  Browning also said he “would make every effort” and “try” to follow the law.  Id. at 638-40.  The defendant’s challenge for cause was denied.  Id. at 640.  


Our Supreme Court held that the trial court abused its discretion by denying the challenge for cause, even though Browning at some point said he could follow the law.  Id. at 641.  But viewing Browning’s answers as a whole, our Supreme Court could “only conclude . . . that he would try to be fair to the defendant but might have trouble doing so if the defendant did not testify.  In this case the defendant did not testify.”  Id.


Here, Stoll said she could listen to the evidence and the law.  However, Stoll only said she would “do her best” to apply the law to the facts.  Further, Stoll said she would biased against animal rights activists.  Therefore, as in Hightower, this Court cannot conclude that Stoll would fairly and impartially apply the law to the facts or that her bias would not affect her verdict.

D.
Preservation.

This issue is preserved for review.

In order for a defendant to seek reversal of the case on appeal on the ground that the judge refused to allow a challenge made for cause, he must have:

(1) Exhausted the peremptory challenges available to him;

(2) Renewed his challenge as provided in subsection (i) of this section; and

(3) Had his renewal motion denied as to the juror in question.

N.C.G.S. §15A-1214(h) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §15A-1214(h)" \s "N.C.G.S. §15A-1214(h)" \c 2 . 


Under N.C.G.S. §15A-1214(i) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §15A-1214(i)" \s "N.C.G.S. §15A-1214(i)" \c 2 ,

A party who has exhausted his peremptory challenges may move orally or in writing to renew a challenge for cause previously denied if the party either:

(1) 
Had peremptorily challenged the juror; or

(2) 
States in the motion that he would have challenged that juror peremptorily had his challenges not been exhausted.

The judge may reconsider his denial of the challenge for cause, reconsidering facts and arguments previously adduced or taking cognizance of additional facts and arguments presented.  If upon reconsideration the judge determines that the juror should have been excused for cause, he must allow the party an additional peremptory challenge.

In sum, “[i]n order to preserve the right to appeal a denial of a challenge for cause, a defendant must have exhausted his peremptory challenges, must have renewed his challenge for cause, and must have had his renewed motion denied.”  State v. Goode, 350 N.C. 247, 257 (1999) TA \l "State v. Goode, 350 N.C. 247, 257 (1999)" \s "State v. Goode, 350 N.C. 247, 257 (1999)" \c 1  (citing N.C.G.S. §15A-1214(h) (1997) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §15A-1214(h) (1997)" \s "N.C.G.S. §15A-1214(h) (1997)" \c 2 ).

Here, Mr. Hsiung exhausted his peremptory challenges.  In addition, Mr. Hsiung renewed the Stoll challenge for cause.  Further, in renewing the challenge, Mr. Hsiung explained his reasons for the challenge, then requested a peremptory challenge to use on another juror that had already been passed.  See State v. Smith, 359 N.C. 199, 208 (2005) TA \l "State v. Smith, 359 N.C. 199, 208 (2005)" \s "State v. Smith, 359 N.C. 199, 208 (2005)" \c 1  (quoting N.C.G.S. §15A-1214(i) TA \s "N.C.G.S. §15A-1214(i)" ) (“a trial court must grant a defendant an additional peremptory challenge if, upon reconsideration of the defendant’s previously denied challenge for cause, ‘the judge determines that the juror should have been excused for cause’”).  

Moreover, at the time Mr. Hsiung challenged Stoll for cause, he stated he was not going to say he was satisfied with the two other jurors in the box; that he only had one peremptory challenge left; and that how he exercised it depended on whether the trial court granted the Stoll challenge for cause.  This shows that Mr. Hsiung was not satisfied with at least one of the two other jurors called at the same time as Stoll and that he would have used his last peremptory challenge to remove that juror if the Stoll challenge for cause had been granted.  
N.C.G.S. §15A-1214(g) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §15A-1214(g)" \s "N.C.G.S. §15A-1214(g)" \c 2  “permits the trial court to reopen the examination of a prospective juror if, at any time before the jury has been impaneled, it is discovered that the juror has made an incorrect statement or that some other good reason exists.”  State v. Womble, 343 N.C. 667, 678 (1996) TA \l "State v. Womble, 343 N.C. 667, 678 (1996)" \s "State v. Womble, 343 N.C. 667, 678 (1996)" \c 1 .  Once the judge reopens examination of a juror, each party has the “absolute” right to exercise any remaining peremptory challenges to excuse the juror.  Id.  If the trial court had granted the renewed challenge for cause and restored Mr. Hsiung’s last peremptory challenge, Mr. Hsiung could have requested that voir dire be reopened and he could have used the peremptory challenge to excuse the undesirable juror.  
Although the decision whether to reopen the examination of a passed juror is within the discretion of the trial court, id., whether or not the trial court would have reopened voir dire,
 the fact that (1) Mr. Hsiung would not pass on the other two jurors before he knew whether the Stoll challenge for cause would be granted and (2) later asked for another peremptory challenge to use on a passed juror demonstrates Mr. Hsiung’s dissatisfaction with the jury.  
In sum, the trial court erred by denying the challenge for cause of Juror Stoll.  Mr. Hsiung requests a new trial.
II.
THE TRIAL COURT ERRed BY DENYING THE DEFENSE REQUEST TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT BABY GOAT RAIN HAD TO HAVE SOME VALUE FOR THE jury TO FIND MR. HSIUNG GUILTY of the CHARGED OFFENSES.

At the charge conference, Mr. Hsiung requested an instruction for both charges that to find him guilty, the jury must find that Rain had some value.  The court denied the request.  (5pp 991-92; 6pp 1010-11)  The trial court instructed the jury on felony larceny pursuant to a breaking or entering, felony breaking or entering based on intent to commit felony larceny, and the lesser-included offense of misdemeanor breaking and entering.  (Rpp 103-07)  The trial court did not instruct the jury that Rain had to have value for Mr. Hsiung to be guilty of felony larceny or that Mr. Hsiung had to have to intent to take something of value for him to be guilty of felony breaking or entering.  The jury found Mr. Hsiung guilty of both felonies.  (Rpp 111-12)
The trial court plainly erred because the jury likely would have found that Rain had no value at the time of the taking due to needing expensive medical treatment and they would not have convicted Mr. Hsiung of felony larceny.  In addition, the jury likely would have found that Mr. Hsiung did not intend to take a goat that had value and they would not have convicted him of felony breaking or entering.
A.
To Be the Subject of a Larceny, Property Must Have Some Value.  To Have the Intent to Commit Larceny for Felony Breaking or Entering, the Defendant Must Have Intended to Take Property with Some Value.  
“[I]n North Carolina, larceny remains a common law crime.”  State v. Ford, 195 N.C. App. 321, 323 (2009) TA \l "State v. Ford, 195 N.C. App. 321, 323 (2009)" \s "State v. Ford, 195 N.C. App. 321, 323 (2009)" \c 1  (quoting State v. Boykin, 78 N.C. App. 572, 576 (1985) TA \l "State v. Boykin, 78 N.C. App. 572, 576 (1985)" \s "State v. Boykin, 78 N.C. App. 572, 576 (1985)" \c 1 ).  Under the common law, to be the subject to a larceny, property must have some value.  See State v. Buller, 65 N.C. 309, 309 (1871) TA \l "State v. Buller, 65 N.C. 309, 309 (1871)" \s "State v. Buller, 65 N.C. 309, 309 (1871)" \c 1  (per curiam) (“To cut off and take away the ears or tail of a cow, might be malicious mischief, or might be indictable under the Act of 1866, ch. 57; but it would not be larceny, as they are of no value as articles of property.”); State v. Bryant, 4 N.C. 249, 249 (1815) TA \l "State v. Bryant, 4 N.C. 249, 249 (1815)" \s "State v. Bryant, 4 N.C. 249, 249 (1815)" \c 1  (theft of currency that is not currency of the State is not punishable as larceny because the currency has no value); 3 Wharton’s Criminal Law, §372 (15th ed.) TA \l "3 Wharton’s Criminal Law, §372 (15th ed.)" \s "3 Wharton’s Criminal Law, §372 (15th ed.)" \c 3  (property that is subject of larceny must have some value).
“Value” in the context of larceny means fair market value, State v. McCambridge, 23 N.C. App. 334, 336 (1974) TA \l "State v. McCambridge, 23 N.C. App. 334, 336 (1974)" \s "State v. McCambridge, 23 N.C. App. 334, 336 (1974)" \c 1 , or the item’s “‘reasonable selling price,’ at the time and place of the theft, and in the condition in which it was when the thief commenced the acts culminating in the larceny.”  State v. Dees, 14 N.C. App. 110, 112 (1972) TA \l "State v. Dees, 14 N.C. App. 110, 112 (1972)" \s "State v. Dees, 14 N.C. App. 110, 112 (1972)" \c 1  (citation omitted).  Therefore, a defendant cannot be guilty of larceny if the property taken has no fair market value.  In addition, evidence that a defendant intended to remove something with no market value negates the larcenous intent required for breaking or entering. 
Under N.C.G.S. §14-72(b) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §14-72(b)" \s "N.C.G.S. §14-72(b)" \c 2 , the “crime of larceny is a felony, without regard to the value of the property in question, if the larceny is . . . [c]ommitted pursuant to a violation of G.S. 14-51, 14-53, 14-54, 14-54.1, or 14-57.”
  However, this statute does not imply that a thing can be completely lacking in value and nonetheless be the subject of a larceny prosecution.  To the contrary, “[o]ur Supreme Court has held that ‘G.S. 14-72 relates solely to punishment . . . and this Court has concluded that the statutory provision upgrading misdemeanor larceny to felony larceny does not change the nature of the crime; the elements of proof remain the same.”  Ford, 195 N.C. App. at 323 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).  Therefore, the enactment of N.C.G.S. §14-72 did not abrogate the common law requirement that property must have value to be the subject of a larceny.  See State v. Hurst, 82 N.C. App. 1, 14 (1986) TA \l "State v. Hurst, 82 N.C. App. 1, 14 (1986)" \s "State v. Hurst, 82 N.C. App. 1, 14 (1986)" \c 1  (citing State v. Gardner, 315 N.C. 444 (1986) TA \l "State v. Gardner, 315 N.C. 444 (1986)" \s "State v. Gardner, 315 N.C. 444 (1986)" \c 1 ) (“when the legislature enacted G.S. Sec[ ]. 14-72 . . , it did not intend to change the common law offense[ ] of larceny . . . . It simply intended to codify the common law and to provide for more severe punishment under certain circumstances.”), rev’d on other grounds, 320 N.C. 859 (1987) TA \l "State v. Gardner, 315 N.C. 444 (1986)) (\“when the legislature enacted G.S. Sec[ ]. 14-72 . . , it did not intend to change the common law offense[ ] of larceny . . . . It simply intended to codify the common law and to provide for more severe punishment under certain circumstances.\”), rev’d on other grounds, 320 N.C. 859 (1987)" \s "State v. Gardner, 315 N.C. 444 (1986)) (\"when the legislature enacted G.S. Sec[ ]. 14-72 . . , it did not intend to change the common law offense[ ] of larceny . . . . It simply intended to codify the common law and to provide for more severe punishment u" \c 1 .  See also State v. Spruill, 89 N.C. App. 580, 581-82 (1988) TA \l "State v. Spruill, 89 N.C. App. 580, 581-82 (1988)" \s "State v. Spruill, 89 N.C. App. 580, 581-82 (1988)" \c 1  (stealing car keys and then stealing car were two acts of larceny; this Court noted that the car keys were “property of value”).
Accordingly, the trial court in this case should have instructed the jury that Rain could not be the subject of felony larceny if he had no fair market value and that Mr. Hsiung could not be convicted of felony breaking or entering if Mr. Hsiung intended to take a goat with no value.  
B.  
If Properly Instructed, There Is a Reasonable Probability the Jury Would Have Found that as a Goat with Pneumonia, Rain Had No Fair Market Value.

To preserve the trial court’s refusal to deliver a special instruction to the jury, a defendant must submit the request in writing.  State v. Holden, 321 N.C. 125, 156 (1987) TA \l "State v. Holden, 321 N.C. 125, 156 (1987)" \s "State v. Holden, 321 N.C. 125, 156 (1987)" \c 1 .  Nevertheless, “[i]n criminal cases, an issue that was not preserved . . . may be made the basis of an issue presented on appeal when the judicial action questioned is specifically and distinctly contended to amount to plain error.”  N.C. R. App. P. 10(a)(4); see State v. Brown, No. COA20-737, 2022 N.C. App. LEXIS 198, at *21 (Mar. 15, 2022) (unpub.) TA \s "State v. Brown, No. COA20-737, 2022 N.C. App. LEXIS 198, at *21 (Mar. 15, 2022) (unpub.)"  (where request for special instruction was not in writing, this Court reviewed for plain error). 

If properly instructed, based on Dr. Rosenburg’s testimony there is a reasonable probability the jury would have found that Rain was suffering from pneumonia and that treating the pneumonia would far exceed Rain’s value.  Rain was taken when he was one week old and only had the potential to be sold for $250 to $300 at age three months.  Treating the pneumonia would cost $700 to $1000 and could cost far more if there were complications.  Without treatment, Rain would have posed a serious threat to the health of the other goats.  Therefore, it would have been imperative for Rain to receive treatment or to be euthanized.  Burnside testified that sick goats have no commercial value and that veterinary care for sick goats is expensive.  He would not sell sick or unhealthy goats.  Based on this testimony, Rain had no fair market value at the time of the taking.  
Hence, Rain could not be the subject of a larceny.  Further, there also would have been no larcenous intent for felony breaking or entering.  Regarding the latter, Mr. Hsiung testified he had prior “very specific knowledge” that Sospiro Ranch neglected the goats and “left animals in a state where they had no value.”  (5p 879)  He anticipated he would find animals “in danger” and that they would remove one to document the conditions at the ranch.  (5pp 875-76)  

  Therefore, if the jury had been instructed that Rain had to have value and that Mr. Hsiung had to intend to take a goat with some value, there is a reasonable probability of a different result.  Mr. Hsiung requests a new trial.
Conclusion

Defendant requests that he be granted a new trial.
Respectfully submitted, February 3, 2023.
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State v. Brown, No. COA20-737, 2022 N.C. App. LEXIS 198 (Mar. 15, 2022) (unpub.)
1

Jury Voir Dire – Robin Stoll
8
� The voir dire of Stoll and the other two jurors is provided in the Appendix.


� Appellant filed a Rule 9(b)(5) Supplement in this Court containing the jury chart.  However, this was unnecessary as the jury chart is contained in the printed record on appeal.


� Stoll is referring to people in the audience who appeared to be there in support of Mr. Hsiung.


� Granting Mr. Hsiung an extra peremptory challenge and not reopening voir dire would be an empty remedy and thus likely an abuse of discretion.  See Simmons v. Parkinson, 119 N.C. App. 424, 427 (1995)� TA \l "Simmons v. Parkinson, 119 N.C. App. 424, 427 (1995)" \s "Simmons v. Parkinson, 119 N.C. App. 424, 427 (1995)" \c 1 � (“trial court abused its discretion by not reopening voir dire and allowing counsel for plaintiff the opportunity to exercise a peremptory challenge” where juror obviously biased). 


� Relevant here, the larceny was alleged to have been committed pursuant to a breaking and entering in violation of N.C.G.S. §14-54� TA \l "N.C.G.S. §14-54" \s "N.C.G.S. §14-54" \c 2 �.  (Rp 6)





